
BOARD OF
ADJUSTMENT
 MARCH 5, 2024

5:00 PM

BRYANT H. WOMACK
BUILDING

40 COURTHOUSE ST.
COLUMBUS, NC 28756

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Approval of Minutes from February 6, 2024

A. February 6, 2024 Minutes

4. On the Matter of Cary Littlejohn on behalf of Courtney Littlejohn for a Special Use Permit
Request - Docket No. 2024-02 (SU)

5. Other Business

6. Public Comments

7. Adjournment

Page 1 of 52



POLK COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

AGENDA ITEM

MARCH  5, 2024 REGULAR MEETING

Agenda Item#:  A.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type Upload Date
Approval of Minutes - February 6, 2024 Cover Memo 2/27/2024

Page 2 of 52



BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
February 6, 2024 - 5:00 PM
Bryant H. Womack Building

40 Courthouse Street
Columbus, NC 28722

MINUTES

Members Present: Chris Jones, Lisa Krolak, Frank Monterisi (Chair), Libby
Morris, Paul Weidman; Alternate Adrienne Reilly (Present, not participating)
 
Staff Present: Chelsea Allen, Jana Berg (County Attorney), Cathy Ruth, Sarah
Zoellers

1. Call to Order

Frank Monterisi called the meeting to order at 5:00pm.

2. Approval of Agenda

A motion was made to approved the agenda by Paul Weidman and seconded
by Lisa Krolak. A vote was taken and the motion carried unanimously.

3. Approval of Minutes

A. Approval of Minutes from October 3, 2023

A motion was made by Chris Jones to approve the minutes from the October 3,
2023 hearing, seconded by Lisa Krolak. A vote was taken and the motion
carried unanimously.

B. Approval of Minutes from October 17, 2023

A motion was made by Lisa Krolak to approve the minutes from the October
17, 2023 hearing, seconded by Chris Jones. A vote was taken and the motion
carried unanimously.

C. Approval of Minutes from December 5, 2023

A motion was made by Libby Morris to approve the minutes from the December
5, 2023 hearing, seconded by Chris Jones. A vote was taken and the motion
carried unanimously.

D. Approval of Minutes from December 12, 2023

A motion was made by Lisa Krolak to approve the minutes from the December
12, 2023 hearing, seconded by Chris Jones. A vote was taken and the motion
carried unanimously.

4. On the Matter of Mike Nuckles on behalf of Christy Pond for a Special Use
Permit Request- Docket No. 2024-01 (SU)

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 1 of 17 Page 3 of 52



Frank Monterisi read an overview of the Board of Adjustment’s procedures,
expectations, and responsibilities for evidentiary hearings. He asked the Board
if there were any ex-parte communications or relationships with the applicant to
be disclosed. Lisa Krolak and Frank Monterisi disclosed they had visited the
site.
 
Frank Monterisi sworn in:
Chelsea Allen
Ray Wehrs
David Morl
John Eaton
Christy Pond
Denise Noonan
Nikki Sauve
Albert Troutman
Scott Crews
Ellen Cantrell
Mike Nuckles
 
Frank Monterisi asked Chelsea Allen, Zoning Administrator, to proceed. 
 
Chelsea Allen requested the staff report to be submitted into evidence. The
staff report was accepted into evidence as Zoning Administrator One, (ZA-1).
Chelsea Allen presented the staff report to the Board. 
 
Exhibit ZA-1 included:

Exhibits XA consists of the General Application Form and site plan.
Exhibit XB consists of the zoning permit/application and receipt of $100.
Exhibit XC consists of the recorded deed in the Register of Deeds Office
dated August 5, 2022, Book 472, Page 66
Exhibit XD consists of the recorded plat in the Register of Deeds Office
dated September 4, 2002, Book E, Page 345.
Exhibit XE consists of the Polk County Property Card tax record
for P114-31. 
Exhibit XF consists of Polk County Geographic Information System
(GIS) map, P114-31.
Exhibit XG consists Google Map of parcel area.
Exhibit XH consists of P114-31 and surrounding parcels’ zoning from the
Polk County GIS site.
Exhibit XI consists of P114-31 and surrounding parcels’ current uses
from the Polk County GIS site, tax record.
Exhibit  XJ  consists  of  the  signed  and  notarized  Affidavit  of  Mailing 
of notice of public hearing to adjacent property owners, property owner,
and applicant; including map of adjacent property parcels and addresses. 
Exhibit XK consists of the signed and notarized Affidavit of Posting. 
Exhibit XL consists of pictures taken by staff of the parcel and sign
posting.

 
Chelsea Allen explained that she had received an email from a citizen and was
asked to read it at the hearing.

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 2 of 17 Page 4 of 52



 
Frank Monterisi explained that she could read it, but it could not be considered
as part of evidence since the citizen was not present to be cross examined.
 
Chelsea Allen read the email from Jacob Clue, dated January 6, 2024, Subject
1261 River Crest Parkway.
"Chelsea, I am an owner in the GRH neighborhood. I served on the board as
president between 2021-2023. The property listed above is owned by Christy
Pond/Mike Knuckles and has a hearing this week for a variance. I will be unable
to attend due to my work schedule. They own a home in the neighborhood that
is walking distance from this property. They have hosted open invitation
neighborhood get togethers with the property. The structure is insignificant in
foot print, looks good and has no negative impact on the community. They have
added great value with their ownership, as before they owned it, the lot was not
well maintained. I hope Polk County can support approving the variance for the
structure as I believe it is an extension of their existing home. Thank you for
your time and consideration. Jacob Clue."
 
Frank Monterisi asked the board if there were any questions for Chelsea Allen.
There were no questions. He asked the applicant to present. 
 
Christy Pond asked that Mike Nuckles present on her behalf.
 
Mike Nuckles asked to have his presentation added into evidence.
 
Frank Monterisi marked the presentation as Applicant Number One (AP-1).
 
Mike Nuckles stated he is asking for a special use permit. He's lived in the
community for 15 years. Christy Pond and Mike Nuckles built a house in the
neighborhood eight years ago. They have made a lot of friends in the
neighborhood, and love the community. They have a lot of get togethers for the
community. They bought the property to build a house in five years, but it
seemed like it was insignificant because everyone uses the property. The
property has been used for barbecues, 4th of July, Labor Day, and have an
annual community event that we invite friends and family of the whole
community. The river access is open to the community, we no longer have river
access from the community area, because of the floods. We open up access to
the river on our property to the community as long as they let us know they are
there and follow our rules. We haven't had a single issue with the property. We
have a port-a-john, fire extinguisher, and first aid stuff. The property is being
maintained and meets the Homeowner Association (HOA) restrictions and by-
laws. We have a realtor to give a realtor report. As far as we know, we have not
had any complaints. Property has foliage barrier on three sides, the only area
without a barrier is the river. The buildings are setback over a 100' feet from the
road, and HOA is 45' from road. Any and all events have to be approved, and
typically start late morning, and don't run past ten o'clock, no loud music, and
most events include children. The majority of the community is over 50 with a
few families in the last five years, and that’s why we have more children-minded
events.
 

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 3 of 17 Page 5 of 52



Christy Pond asked to submit rules into evidence.
 
Frank Monterisi accepted the Rules for Property Use as Applicant Number Two
(AP-2).
 
Mike Nuckles read the rules:

1.      No loud music.
2.      No amplified instruments or live bands.
3.      No fires outside of fire pit
4.      No fireworks
5.      Be courteous of all neighbors
6.      Pick up and dispose of all garbage in bins on site
7.      No parking of vehicles on street
8.      Curfew is 10:00 p.m.

 
Paul Weidman asked if there were alligators on the property (referring to the
warning sign ZA-1, XL-11).
 
Christy Pond stated that was for fun. There were gators in Louisiana and they
were having a crawfish boil. We had the sign put up with the fake alligator and
we named the fake alligator Trooper.
 
Paul Weidman stated you noted there is a port-a-john on the property. Are you
permitted for a septic system on the property?
 
Mike Nuckles said he had to have it permitted to purchase the property. The
septic permit is for a house.
 
Paul Weidman asked Mr. Nuckles to show on the map where his residence is in
relation to the property being discussed.
 
Mike Nuckles showed the property on the GIS map and stated it is up the road
and around the corner. It's probably a sixteenth of a mile, approximately five lots
over.
 
Paul Weidman inquired about the rule of no amplified instruments or live bands,
are bluetooth speakers allowed?
 
Mike Nuckles said they would be allowed, as long as they weren’t loud. They
don't want to disturb the neighbors.
 
Lisa Krolak asked if they had the rules for the HOA.
 
Mike Nuckles stated he did not have them with him.
 
Frank Monterisi stated the HOA regulations did not pertain to the hearing. 
 
Christy Pond stated John Eaton and Ray Wehr were present and they know the
regulations. They should be able to answer any questions.
 

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 4 of 17 Page 6 of 52



Chris Jones asked what is driving the request for the special use permit.
 
Mike Nuckles stated a complaint from a property owner that we had built the
deck and here we are trying to make everything right. I did not pull a permit for
the structures.
 
Lisa Krolak stated that the special use permit goes with the land. If you moved
away the new property owner would have that same right to have a special use
permit.
 
Chris Jones asked if there was electrical in the shed.
 
Mike Nuckles stated the shed is not there. That's part of what we are asking for.
 
Christy Pond stated they use a generator for lights around the pavilion. 
 
Libby Morris asked if the port-a-john was adequate for their events and how
frequently was it serviced? And is there a garbage service?
 
Mike Nuckles stated weekly for the port-a-john. They have a garbage service at
their home, and he takes the trash to their home to be picked up.
 
Libby Morris asked does the curfew at 10:00 mean everyone is gone at 10:00.
 
Christy Pond said yes, it's cold and we are ready for bed.
 
Libby Morris asked if you built the deck without permits, how about the pavilion?
 
Mike Nuckles stated they did not have a permit on that structure either.
 
Frank Monterisi asked what are the dimension and location of the building being
proposed to construct. And will it be a prefab building?
 
Mike Nuckles stated they haven't decided the exact size yet, but approximately
140 square feet. It's to store the camp chairs and things like that. It will be
located west of the pavilion, not far from where the trailer is on the property. Not
sure whether it will be a prefab or stick built building. It depends on the cost.
 
Frank Monterisi stated you mentioned that you lost river access?
 
Mike Nuckles responded that they lost physical access to the river in the
community park back in 2015 due to a flood.
 
Frank Monterisi asked are there any precautions in place for that not to happen
at this location? And how are you addressing erosion issues?
 
Mike Nuckles stated it has flooded there and the steps were under water, but
have withheld. They were there before we bought the property. There haven't
been any issues with erosion over the past few years.
 

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 5 of 17 Page 7 of 52



Frank Monterisi asked how critical is the river access to you?
 
Mike Nuckles stated it was very critical. It's what we love about it. We go out
there and sit in the water, and so do the dogs. They love it more than we do.
When the water is down, there is a little island, sandbar.
 
Christy Pond stated they take chairs down there and sit and throw balls to the
dogs. We make it a family day. We have hamburgers and hotdogs and have a
nice day out there.
 
Frank Monterisi asked if they have any plans on putting in the septic.
 
Mike Nuckles explained not until they build the house, maybe five years or it
might be twenty-five years. We have a house around the corner.
 
Christy Pond shared it is an extension of our house. It's where we go because
our house isn't very big.
 
Frank Monterisi wanted to know how big a gathering they have?
 
Mike Nuckles said sixty to eighty.
 
Frank Monterisi stated he assumed that the majority of the people coming for
these gatherings are within walking distance or use a golf cart? There are no
real issues with parking?
 
Mike Nuckles agreed.
 
Frank Monterisi stated some of the Board members have concerns about the
structures that are already up or might go up, what are the legalities of it.
 
Jana Berg stated the building inspector is the one that issues the building
permits for the structure and they will need to guide them in what they require of
them for their building permit.
 
Paul Weidman asked if the granting or denying of the special use permit would
not determine whether the structure is allowed or not allowed, it's a separate
process.
 
Jana Berg stated in order for him to pull a building permit and inspect what is
already there, he would need a zoning permit first. This is the first step in getting
his building permit.
 
Mike Nuckles stated he has a realtor to testify.
 
Frank Monterisi stated he would like to hear from Mr. Wehr or Mr. Eaton about
the HOA before the realtor.
 
Jana Berg said she had a question about the HOA testimony. Why we are
looking at the HOA rules for this hearing. The rules should not be considered in

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 6 of 17 Page 8 of 52



the determination. You could grant the permit and the HOA may not allow it and
get an injunction against them and not allow it.
 
Frank Monterisi said so it is similar to us granting without a septic permit or
anything else?
 
Jana Berg agreed.
 
Paul Weidman asked would it clarify to say the more restrictive would apply. If
we granted the permit and it was against the HOA?
 
Jana Berg stated that is correct. If the board grants the permit and it doesn't
meet the HOA requirements, it's up to them to enforce. And the applicant could
request to get their covenants changed to allow it.
 
Frank Monterisi asked if he could ask the question.
 
Jana Berg stated you can ask it but it doesn't have any relevance.
 
Ray Wehrs stated he is the current president of the HOA and has lived there for
two years, he's been involved with the board for the last 18 months. John Eaton
is his mentor and if he can't answer he will refer to him.
 
Frank Monterisi asked are you aware of restrictions in the HOA that would
prohibit the activity to go on or the structures to be built and used.
 
Ray Wehrs stated it is not a home owners association, it's a property owners
association (POA).  Mike and Christy have a piece of property that they are
using is in alignment with the community. There are some conflicts within the
document, depending how you look at it. As a property owner and the
enjoyment of that property, the use falls within the covenants. With his intent to
use it as a park, an extension of his home, Mr. Wehrs says it fits within their
covenants.
 
John Eaton stated he built a house in 2009, lived there since 2012, was on the
board from 2014 until 2023. The covenants speak to building houses and
outbuildings. You can build an outbuilding without building a house, but the
requirements state it cannot have a bathroom or kitchen. You can build a
building like the pavilion and have electric and water in it. You are not restricted
from building anything from your property as long as it meets the building codes
and does not violate the covenants.
 
Frank Monterisi stated, as our attorney instructed, it will be up to your board to
address any violations within the HOA. The special use permit addresses the
use permitted by the county. The building inspection department will decide if it
is built to code or not.
 
John Eaton stated I thought the reason we were having this meeting is to see if
this falls within Polk County's permitting system and see if it is something that
would be permitted?

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 7 of 17 Page 9 of 52



 
Frank Monterisi clarified it is for the use, not for the construction of the building.
 
John Eaton said there have been multiple events at the property, some of them
rather elaborate. They bring in a generator and have entertaining music. We
have had multiple hamburger and hotdog cookouts. The property aesthetically
does not bother anybody.
 
Ray Wehrs said it is a beautiful piece of property. The four points, is the
property safe, yes it's safe as any other park. It's kept very clean. There is no
noise that interrupts the community. I've been there for two years and I have
never had an issue. Mike and Christy are good neighbors to the community. He
cleans up fallen trees in the community. I don't believe there will be any issues.
 
Nikki Sauve asked to put into evidence a real estate packet.
 
Frank Monterisi put the real estate packet into evidence as Applicant Number
Three (AP-3).
 
Nikki Sauve introduced herself as a realtor with Tryon Horse and Home Realty.
She targeted four areas in Polk County that had recreational structures, Harmon
Field, Overmountain Vineyards, Mountainbrook Vineyards, and Veteran's Park.
The distance from these locations was within 1-2 miles. Following the market
and the comps, the market is slower, and only went back a year, things are
selling within 11% of asking price, most of them are in the mid-nineties. Some
realtors have not acknowledged that the market has shifted, and list price does
not always reflect the shift. Some are going for 125% over list price, and the
smallest is 89%. These comps clearly show there is no negative affect for
recreational properties to neighboring property values. There is a community
area in this particular neighborhood when you enter the development, as soon
as you come through the gates, it sets the tone. This subdivision is a
recreational subdivision. The first comp sheet is Overmountain on Sandy
Plains, not too far from the Green River Highlands. There are five properties,
within two miles. The one that was on the market the longest, 177 days, was
slightly overpriced for the market. Without narrowing any perimeters, the comps
show the closing prices were 96%, 102%, 121%, 95% and 89% of asking price.
The same scenario for Mountainbrook Vineyard is 102%, 95%, and 89% of the
asking price. The 89% one is the same one referred to earlier.
 
Frank Monterisi asked about the house on the market for 177 days that was
overpriced, 2800 Coxe Road. What did that house sell for prior to any of these
recreational amenities were built?
 
Nikki Sauve said that's almost impossible to figure out, because there has been
a steady increase in the market. So prior to that there would have to be a ratio of
direct impact from that recreational facility, and if that didn't exist and the market
was at 15% below where it is now, that is not necessarily relative. What is being
shown is there is turn off from these recreational amenities.
 
Frank Monterisi stated there is nothing showing that. What we are looking at is

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 8 of 17 Page 10 of 52



the recreational facility actually affecting the value of that house. The only way
we can determine that is what did a piece of property sell for before it went up?
 
Nikki Sauve said I understand your question, but without having a set factor,
numeric factor to find that data, and by looking at these properties close to
these facilities selling for 102% over list price shows there an obvious demand
and values are clearly shown at Harmon Field, which has been there forever in
some format.
 
Frank Monterisi said from the listing that you had of the 102%, it sold in
12/21/2023. When was the last time it was sold? Let's say it was sold five years
prior? Did it sell for 450 and now it's selling for 328?
 
Nikki Sauve said you are looking for a decrease? They can be pulled. I was
looking at demand which is usually a direct derivative of value.
 
Frank Monterisi said we are looking at what affect a recreational facility might
have. What about anything that was sold in that neighborhood?
 
Nikki Sauve said one went under contract today and can pull that information. 
 
Frank Monterisi asked if that was something she could do before this meeting
adjourns, just a couple?
 
Nikki Sauve stated yes she can. Just let me know the specifics of what you
want.
 
Paul Weidman said there are two ways you could determine value on
surrounding properties. One would be if you could show the before and after of
the trend line of the change in properties before a facility like this was put into
the neighborhood, compared to after. The other is a comparison of the trend
line change in properties with this type of use, compared to properties without.
Because if you're trying to say how does that type of affect property values. We
need to have a before and after or a comparison that have that sort of use close
to it, compared to properties that do not.
 
Nikki Sauve stated the only note on that is it is not the same upward incline that
was in 2021.
 
Paul Weidman said there will be a trend.
 
Frank Monterisi said it is not individual sale, it’s the trend. The facilities,
Veterans Park and Harmon Field, have all been in place for more than five
years. Can you look in Green River Highlands?
 
Nikki Sauve said the trend line has plateaued or come down this year, probably
15% lower. Houses in Green River Highlands were higher in 2019, 2020, 2021
per square foot because of Covid and the interest rate. It's generally a place
where people get loans for 300, 400, and 500,000 dollars. I can look and get
back to you with that information in Green River Highlands.

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 9 of 17 Page 11 of 52



 
Paul Weidman asked for clarity on the handouts, AP-3. 
 
Nikki Sauve stated first one is Overmountain on Sandy Plains, second is
Mountain Brook, Harmon Field and the Veterans Park, Gibson Street,
Columbus.
 
David Morl stated his name and shared that he was the previous treasurer on
the board, has lived in Green River Highlands for 2.5 years. He wants to
address points 2, 3 and 4 of the criteria for the permit. He has not had one
grievance, trash or safety issues in the community. He is in the process of
selling his property. Mike and Christie have had a huge positive impact on the
community. He is in favor of the facility and supports it.
 
Frank Monterisi asked how long he has been on the board.
 
David Morl stated for over a year.
 
John Eaton stated he has been on the board for 9 or 10 years. He has lived in
Green River highlands since 2012. The covenants don't restrict the use. The
deck has railings and has safety restrictions. They are controlling access to the
property with a gate. As far as property values, he asked if anyone in the room
was against this Special Use Permit, there was no reply from the audience.
Most of the people here live in Green River Highlands. There are five people in
this room that have bought property since this property was used for the river
access, Marshall, Wendy, Janet, Capoti, and Darrell. This is not affecting the
property values. People come in and ask what that is, and we say it is access to
the river. Mike has done a good job at what he built. He has been present for
nine or ten floods. During one flood, six feet of water came up into his backyard,
and when we went to look at this property, and the water had not gotten up to
where the deck is. We know the floods are going to erode the banks, but
structures have stayed. We have had floods due to hurricanes. It does not
affect the values of the properties in Green River Highlands.
 
Paul Weidman asked Mr. Morl if this use is having a negative value on his
property.
 
David Morl stated it is a positive value on his property. 
 
Paul Weidman asked if anyone that signed up to speak and were sworn in, if
they bought their property while that use was there, would they testify if it
affected their property values or decision to purchase?
 
Ray Wehrs stated he had bought his property in the last two years, he saw the
property prior to purchasing, and drives by it to get to his house. He was
impressed by the way it was maintained. It was a value plus for him.
 
Frank Monterisi asked about safety, the U-shaped driveway on the property, and
how many gates are on the property?
 

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 10 of 17 Page 12 of 52



John Eaton responded that there is one gate on the property near Zachary.
 
Frank Monterisi asked since there is one gate does that affect the safety, since
there is access through the other side?
 
John Eaton stated there are no trespassing signs on the property. 
 
Christie Pond verified that there are no trespassing signs on the property.
 
Frank Monterisi explained that since you testified on the gate as safety, we
needed to clarify if there was only one gate in terms of the access.
 
John Eaton stated there is a gate now, and there wasn't a gate before.
 
Denise Noonan stated she has lived in Green River Highlands for five years.
She is a direct neighbor of Mike and Christy. They have been a positive
influence on the neighborhood, our relationships, and our community. She
drives by at least twice a day. The lot is not an eyesore. It has not affected my
property value. Everything they have done has been positive.
 
Paul Weidman asked when she had bought her property and if it was being
used for recreation at that time?
 
Denis Noonan stated she bought her property in 2019 and it was vacant at that
time.
 
Nikki Sauve stated she did a quick MLS search as asked and found three
properties within Green River Highlands that sold in 2023 and their previous
sale dates and prices. 69 Ash Creek, sold at a price in September 2017 of
$90,000 of vacant land, in February 2022 sold for $160,000. 816 Cross Ridge,
a residence, sold in December 2020 for $225,000 and in February 2023 for
$295,000. 138 Elliott Lane, a residence, sold in July 2018 for $216,000 and in
February 2023 for $358,000.
 
Frank Monterisi asked how close these were to the property for the Special Use
Permit.
 
Nikki Sauve stated they were all relatively close and on that side of the
subdivision, within the subdivision. If there are no more questions, she
requested to leave.
 
Paul Weidman asked Nikki Sauve if she was selling property in the area, would
she have to disclose to a perspective buyer that this facility existed.
 
Nikki Sauve said she would disclose it and say there is this property here and
the owners are wonderful and they allow river access to the community,
probably until they put a house up and then you will have to knock. She doesn't
consider it a negative.
 
Libby Morris asked if the property on Ash Creek was vacant land, were any

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 11 of 17 Page 13 of 52



improvements made to that property between the two dates?
 
Nikki Sauve stated not on the MLS. When they bought in 2022, it was vacant.
 
John Eaton stated there has been a house built on that property. 
 
Albert Troutman introduced himself. He lives on 34 Zachary Lane, purchased
his house three years ago in 2020. He lives across the street from this property
and is the most affected by this facility. If he were to put his property on the
market today, he would consider the property across the street a positive. He
would tell them you can walk across the street and have access to the river. He
has improved the property value. His wife decorates with flags and Christy and
his wife both enjoy that. The property is always decorated and it looks nice.
When he bought the property, the property across the street was run down, but
now there is a beautiful facility that they graciously allow us to use on the
property.
 
Scott Crews stated he has lived in the neighborhood for three years. When we
moved into the neighborhood, that property was all grown up and now it is taken
care of. He worked in that neighborhood prior to purchasing property in there.
He bought in the heat of Covid and his place has doubled in value. If anything
ever needs be done I just call Mike Nuckles and he is there to help. He was
there for me when my son was sick, he let my dog out. If you are going to get
into people's business, there is a guy in the neighborhood who complained that
created this. Go look at his buildings, he is not doing what he is supposed to.
 
Frank Monterisi stated we are not enforcement. Mr. Nuckles personal character
had never come into question.
 
Scott Crews stated the values have increased and he has not broken any HOA
rules. What they have done to the property has probably doubled or tripled what
they paid for it.
 
Ellen Cantrell testified. This is hard to do because a lot of the people attending
are her clients and she suggested to some of them to buy houses in this
neighborhood. She owns 360 acres that join the back of the development. She
could have stopped the development because she granted them a right of way
to the property. She has allowed residential use only, not the pavilion or park to
be built. She has a pavilion, a gate house, the main house, and a tea room. It is
opened to the public. The house was built over 200 years ago and owned by
Miss Coxe. She has owned the house for 36 years. She promised her father
when she was twelve years old that she would protect that house. She got a call
from Washington, DC that the house was going to be torn down. She said she
was going to buy it and bought it over the phone. She has spent over a million
dollars on it. The name of the facility is Green River Plantation. She does not
want to offend anybody, but she did not give them permission for commercial
use across her property. It crosses about seven acres of my property
Commercial use will make me liable, it will cost greater insurance.
 
Frank Monterisi stated the intent is not for commercial use.

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 12 of 17 Page 14 of 52



 
Ellen Cantrell stated she believes it is commercial. She wants a letter from
Green River Highlands stating it is not for commercial use. She told them they
can put a sign on and look at the sign they put up. She never gave them
permission to pave the road into the neighborhood. She does not want a
commercial facility that is being rented out.
 
Frank Monterisi stated no evidence has been brought forth that there is any
intent in renting out the facility. It is going to be used for the Green River
Highlands residents.
 
Ellen Cantrell stated she was told they were going to have weddings on the
property. She does not want commercial people going up there for weddings
and barbecuing. The road is not suitable. They were going to bill me for taking
out trees. Thank you for listening. Come to my facility.
 
Christy Pond stated they are not going into business, they just want to share
their property. They are no competition to their business at all.
 
Ellen Cantrell stated if she see a wedding invitation to the property she will be
right back over here.
 
Paul Weidman asked where is the property of Green River Plantation in relation
to Green River Highlands.
 
Ellen Cantrell stated it is all the way around it. The entrance to it is built on part
of her land.
 
John Eaton stated it was paid for.
 
Ellen Cantrell stated it was not paid for.
 
John Eaton stated he found all the documents on it.
 
Ellen Cantrell stated the entrance from Coxe Road into Green River was paved
without permission. She's 87 years old and the house was falling down and
would not be there if it wasn't for her. She spent her last dollar and retirement on
it.
 
Frank Monterisi stated from a personal note, he thanked Ms. Cantrell for
maintaining Green River Plantation.
 
Paul Weidman asked Mr. Nuckles when he started using this property for
recreational events.
 
Mike Nuckles stated it was two and a half years ago. They invited the whole
neighborhood to the property.
 
Paul Weidman asked when the structures were built on the property.
 

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 13 of 17 Page 15 of 52



Mike Nuckles stated last year.
 
Paul Weidman asked if there was somebody on the list that can testify on
access to the Green River Highlands and to this property and whether it is
permitted by right of way through Ms. Cantrell's property or around it.
 
John Eaton stated he did some research about ten years ago because Verizon
built a tower on Ellen's property that comes off the entrance of our property and
they damaged the road. So we tried to figure out who could help us pay for the
damage. It turns out 20 to 25 year ago Ellen owned the property and was
approached by a developer, not Dave Myers who developed Green River
Highlands, another guy got an agreement to get a right of way to that property
so that Dave Myers could develop it. Once he got the right of way, he ceded
that to Dave Myers, and Dave Myers built Green River Highlands. There was no
road built there without Ellen's knowledge. The road was built after the right of
way was granted.
 
Paul Weidman asked if the access to the property is on a legal right of way.
 
John Eaton stated yes, it is. Coming off of Coxe Road, directly north under the
74 underpass, it goes straight north, it is about 3/4 of mile of right of way and
when it gets to the gate it is Green River Highlands property.
 
Paul Weidman asked how wide the right of way is.
 
John Eaton said the road itself is about 16' wide, so it is probably about 30 feet.
 
Jana Berg said she could answer that because there is a copy of the deed in
the packet, ZA-1, Deed Book 472, Page 66, it states "Mtn. Creek Land Co.,
Inc. specifically conveys herewith a non-exclusive perpetual easement  and
right of way over that sixty (60) foot wide easement and right of way, which was
acquired by it by the Deeds of record in Book 283, at Pages 1480 & 1483,
Polk County Registry, and which right of way is shown on the subdivision plat
hereinabove referred to."
 
Ellen Cantrell said that is not what it says, it was recorded and filed in 279.
 
Audience member stated it is a different right away that was going around the
edge of the property and is not relevant to any of this.
 
Frank Monterisi stated you were not sworn in and we can't use your testimony.
 
Jana Berg stated the information to the right of way is in your packet.
 
Frank Monterisi referred to Paul Weidman's question. Was anyone here to
testify that has purchased property in the last two and a half years since the
property has been used as a recreational facility for the community that is on our
witness list?
 
Paul Weidman stated Mr. Wehr testified that he bought the property after the

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 14 of 17 Page 16 of 52



use began. David Morl also. Denise Noonan bought her property about five
years ago, so that preceded the use. I think I got the information about the
property.
 
Frank Monterisi stated Mr. Crews was there about three years as well. Frank
Monterisi asked Mr. Nuckles if he had the fire marshal inspect the property?
 
Mike Nuckles stated he did not, but there were firefighters that lived in the
neighborhood.
 
Frank Monterisi asked Mr. Eaton how long he had been on the board.
 
John Eaton stated he is not currently on the board, but from 2014 until last year,
2023.
 
Frank Monterisi asked while Mr. Eaton was on the board was the property being
used for recreational use?
 
John Eaton stated it was.
 
Frank Monterisi asked if there were any complaints to the board about the
property.
 
John Eaton stated there has never been a complaint about the property. The
only thing that may have been said was prior to them owning it, the property was
kind of ragged.
 
Frank Monterisi asked if there is anyone that testified that is on the board since
the time Mr. Eaton has been off the board.
 
John Eaton stated Ray and Denise both are on the board.
 
Denise Noonan said she is the current treasurer.
 
Frank Monterisi asked Denise Noonan to her knowledge if there have been
complaints about this property?
 
Denise Noonan stated there have not been any to the board.
 
Chris Jones asked what the width of the gate is.
 
Mike Nuckles stated it is 16 feet wide on our property.
 
Jana Berg stated you may want to address the noncommercial uses, whether or
not the applicant will accept that as a condition, because the next owner could
use it for commercial uses, such as a wedding venue.
 
Chris Jones asked Mr. Nuckles, do you have any intent to use the property as a
commercial use, and would you accept the approval with a limit to
noncommercial uses only?

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 15 of 17 Page 17 of 52



 
Christy Pond said they would.
 
Mike Nuckles also agreed.
 
Jana Berg said you can put those conditions on the permit when you deliberate.
 
Lisa Krolak said she had some questions about the commercial, and making
that for noncommercial use, would that run with the land?
 
Jana Berg said yes, it would as long as you grant the permit, it runs with the
land.
 
John Eaton stated there are some commercial uses within their development,
horse stable and Air BnBs.
 
Frank Monterisi stated we are only looking at the applicant’s property for the
Special Use Permit, not the overall subdivision, and this Board has a right to put
on certain provisions for approval.
 
Paul Weidman stated when we come to the deliberation, if the permit is granted,
and if conditions are added, we will need to ask our attorney during deliberations
if you can place restrictions on this permit against uses that are permitted. That
should be held for the deliberations.
 
Frank Monterisi stated we will adjourn and will reconvene in about a week or so
to deliberate, we will come up with a date. We go through the findings of facts
and discuss what conclusions. The Chair will typically asked the panelists what
he or she thinks and come up with conclusions. There will be no additional
testimony at that meeting, and we ask that the applicant be at the hearing if there
are any conditions put on the permit, they can agree or disagree on the record.
 
Paul Weidman added that the Board is not permitted to discuss the case until
we are back in an open hearing and we are not permitted to have discussions
with any of the parties to the hearing.
 
Audience member wanted to ask a question and referred to a variance.
 
Frank Monterisi stated there is a difference between a variance and a Special
Use Permit.
 
Cathy Ruth stated she would talk to her after the hearing to explain the
differences and processes.
 
The board discussed dates to reconvene. The date to reconvene the meeting
was February 20, 2024 at 5:00 p.m.

5. Other Business

No other business discussed.

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 16 of 17 Page 18 of 52



6. Public Comments

No public comments.

7. Adjournment

The meeting was recessed.

February 6, 2024 Minutes Page 17 of 17 Page 19 of 52



POLK COUNTY BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT

AGENDA ITEM

MARCH  5, 2024 REGULAR MEETING

Agenda Item#:  4.

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Type Upload Date
Staff Report - Littlejohn Cover Memo 2/27/2024

Page 20 of 52



                                                                          

 

To: Board of Adjustment 

From: Chelsea Allen, Zoning Administrator 

Date: March 5, 2024 

Re: In the Matter of the Application of Cary Littlejohn for a Special Use Permit, Docket          

No. 2024-02 (SU) 

 

 

A. Action Requested by Board of Adjustment 

1. Review all currently available information prior to meeting 

2. Consider Special Use Request 

 

B. Background 

1. On October 18, 2023 Cary and Courtney Littlejohn met with staff regarding a Storage 

and Warehousing facility at 591 Walker Road, Columbus, NC 28722, identified as 

Tax Parcel ID P73-188 in the tax records of Polk County, and consisting of 

approximately 2.00 acres. The property is located in the Multiple Use (MU) zoning 

district.  

 

2. Cary Littlejohn provided a completed application, applied to the Board of Adjustment 

for a Special Use Permit for a Storage and Warehousing facility on January 29, 2024. 

The hearing was scheduled for March 5, 2024 at 5:00pm.  

 

3. The property, comprised of 2.00 acres, is identified as Tax Parcel P73-188 on the tax 

records of Polk County. The property is located in the Multiple Use zoning district. 

 

4. Exhibits included: 

 

-Exhibit XA consists of the General Application Form and site plan. 

-Exhibit XB consists of the zoning permit/application and receipt of $100.00. 

Page 21 of 52



-Exhibit XC consists of the recorded deed in the Register of Deeds Office dated 

September 26, 2023, Book 480, Page 2198. 

-Exhibit XD consists of the recorded plat in the Register of Deeds Office dated 

September 12, 2023, Book G, Page 535. 

-Exhibit XE consists of the Polk County Property Card tax record for P73-188. 

-Exhibit XF consists of Polk County Geographic Information System (GIS) map, 

P73-188. 

-Exhibit XG consists of a Google Map of parcel area. 

-Exhibit XH consists of P73-188 and surrounding parcels’ zoning from Polk 

County GIS site. 

-Exhibit XI consists of P73-188 and surrounding parcels’ current uses from the 

Polk County GIS site, tax record.  

-Exhibit XJ- consists of the signed and notarized Affidavit of Mailing of notice of 

public hearing to adjacent property owners, property owner, and applicant; 

including map of adjacent property parcels and addresses. 

-Exhibit XK consists of the signed and notarized Affidavit of Posting of notice of 

public hearing and photos of posted signs.  

-Exhibit XL- consists of pictures taken by staff of the parcel.  

 

 

Page 22 of 52



Page 23 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XA-1



Page 24 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XA-2



Page 25 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XA-3



Page 26 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XB-1



Page 27 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XB-2



Page 28 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XC-1



Page 29 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XC-2



Page 30 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XD



                                                         POLK COUNTY
LITTLEJOHN COURTNEY H          N2 FOUND  YR 2024                                                 P73-188                                                                            ACCOUNT#:                                                                                      59274                               PAGE    1
591 WALKER RD                            LOT C                                                                            NBHD:                                                                                        100C  100C COUNTY RURAL
                                         PIN:                               Plat Bk/Pg G      535     APPR: PJC APPR DT:  9/21/2023
      2.000  AC  TWSP:  009                                         DISTRICT:                                                     9  COLUM TOWNSHIP-                       EXCD:       NOTICE: TRF 10/04/2023
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
Bldg No.   1                                                                   Exempt Code                                                                                                        LAND VALUE                                                                                                                            33,000
Imp Desc:        STORAGE/WAREHOUSE         EYB:           591 WALKER RD                                                                                                        MISC VALUE                                                                                                                                 0
Grade   :  D     RESID D GRADE             AYB: 1957      Finished Area:       6,000.00                                                                                                        BLDG VALUE                                                                                                                            30,874
# of Units                 1 Rms       Bedrms     1.0 Bathrms       HBaths                                                                                                        TOTAL VALUE                                                                                                                            63,874
   -----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
TYPE/CODE/DESCRIPTION                              PCT                                  %CMP                                            UNITS                                                          RATE                                                                   STR#                                                                           STR%                                                                                   SIZ%                                                                                           HGT%                                                                                                   PER%                                                                                                                     COST
MA 006   STG. DIST.\WHSE.     100            6000        40.00     1.00           90.00                              216,000
- DS EC05 CONCRETE BLOCK      100            6000          .00                                                             0
- DS FN 02CONCRETE BLOCK      100            6000          .00                                                             0
- DS FN03 SLAB                100            6000         2.50-                                                       15,000-
- DS RM02 ENAMELED MT-<1990   100            6000          .00                                                             0
- DS RT01 FLAT SHED TYPE      100            6000          .00                                                             0
                                                                                                    ---------------
                        RCN...            PCT COMPLETE                  100     x                          201,000
                        QUAL..     D                                     80.00  x                          160,800
                        DEPR.. FR2                                       70.00  -        112,560
                        FUNC..                                           20.00  -          9,648
                        ECON..                                           20.00  -          7,718           129,926  T
                      --ASV...                                                                              30,874

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
PROPERTY NOTES:                                             |                                                             PERMIT NO                                                                       TYPE                                                                              DATE                                                                                      |                                                                                       BOOK                                                                                              PAGE                                                                                                     DT                                                                                                             DATE                                                                                                                     QS                                                                                                                        SALES PRICE
                                                            |                         |480    2198   WD     9/26/2023 E
                                                            |AMOUNT                   |16E    36     SPL    9/13/2023
                                                            |                         |
                                                            |AMOUNT                   |
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
MISC     CODE          DESC                                          UNITS                                                            RATE                                                                  AYB                                                                       EYB                                                                            DT                                                                                PCT                                                                                       %CMP                                                                                            ADD.DEPR                                                                                                     PCT                                                                                                                       VALUE                                                                                                                              EXMPT
                                                                                   .00
                                                                                   .00
                                                                                   .00
                                                                                   .00
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
 #     ZONE            TYPE/CODE                       LAND                            QTY                                                LAND                                                     RATE                                                            DPTH                                                                   DPT%                                                                          TOP%                                                                                 LOC%                                                                                        SIZ%                                                                                               SHP%                                                                                                     OTH%                                                                                                              ADJ                                                                                                                       FMV                                                                                                                              EXMPT
  1           AC BS          1.000               25,000.00           .00    .00    .00    .00    .00    .00    .00      25,000
  2           AC OP          1.000                8,000.00           .00    .00    .00    .00    .00    .00    .00       8,000

 P73-188                    591 WALKER RD                                      REQUESTED BY JERRY       RUN  2/21/24  TIME 19:15:26

Page 31 of 52

callen
Typewritten text

XE-1



        POLK COUNTY        2024  P73-188                                                                                  PAGE    2

                      +-----------------------------------------------100-----------------------------------------------+
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      6                                                                                                 6
                      0                                                                                                 0
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                      :                                                                                                 :
                                                                                                                        :
                      +-----------------------------------------------100-----------------------------------------------+

   =     MA 006         6,000.00 STG. DIST.\WH

Page 32 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XE-2



Page 33 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XF



Page 34 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XG



ArcGIS Web Map

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft

Municipal Zoning

Traditional Neighborhood District

Other

Neighborhoods

100C COUNTY RURAL

Hydrography

CityLimits

County Zoning

M

MU

Townships

Columbus

Parcels

NG_Roads

NG_SiteAddressPoints

2/22/2024, 4:07:08 PM
0 0.03 0.060.01 mi

0 0.05 0.10.03 km

1:2,257

Web AppBuilder for ArcGIS

NC CGIA, Maxar, Microsoft | Esri Community Maps Contributors, State of North Carolina DOT, Tennessee STS GIS, © OpenStreetMap, Microsoft, Esri, TomTom, Garmin, SafeGraph, GeoTechnologies, Inc, METI/NASA, USGS, EPA, NPS, US Census Bureau, USDA, USFWS |

Page 35 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
MU

callen
Typewritten text
M- Municipal

callen
Typewritten text
XH

callen
Typewritten text
P73-188



Page 36 of 52

shansen
Text Box
SFR, STORAGE BLD

shansen
Text Box
STORAGE/WAREHOUSE

shansen
Text Box
SFR, STORAGE BLD

shansen
Text Box
SFR, SHOP, CARPORT, GARAGE, UTILITY BLD, LEAN-TO

shansen
Text Box
SFR, CARPORT, GARAGE/SHOP

shansen
Text Box
SFR, GARAGE, CHURCH, 
LOADING DOCK, 
STORAGE WAREHOUSE

shansen
Text Box
SFR

shansen
Text Box
CHURCH, PICNIC SHELTER, STORAGE BLD (X2), FELLOWSHIP HALL

shansen
Text Box
VACANT

shansen
Text Box
BARN (X2), 
UTIL BLD (X2), GARAGE/WKSHP/STOR, LEAN-TO (X2)

callen
Typewritten text
XI



Page 37 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XJ-1



Page 38 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XJ-2



Page 39 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XJ-3



Page 40 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XK-1



Page 41 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XK-2

callen
Typewritten text
Sign posting 1 of 2.

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road 



Page 42 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
XK-3

callen
Typewritten text
Sign 2 of 2 facing corner of Walker/Fox Mountain 
Road.

callen
Typewritten text
Fox Mountain Road

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road



Page 43 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Approaching Property from Intersection of Fox Mountain Road and 
Walker Road.

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road

callen
Typewritten text
Existing 
Storage 
Building

callen
Typewritten text
XL-1



Page 44 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Approaching from Walker Road. Existing storage building, (P73-188), on 
left. 

callen
Typewritten text
Existing Storage 
Building

callen
Typewritten text
Approaching from 
Walker Road

callen
Typewritten text
XL-2



Page 45 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Existing storage building located on P73-188. Located on right side 
of Walker Road after turning right off Fox Mountain Road.

callen
Typewritten text
XL-3



Page 46 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
View from center of property facing west, showing the tree line that buffers both the left and back side of parcel P73-188. 

callen
Typewritten text
XL-4



Page 47 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
View facing south, showing the tree lines located on the left 
side of parcel (P73-188) and on the adjacent parcel across Walker Road.

callen
Typewritten text
XL-5

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road



Page 48 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
View shown from back left corner facing northeast toward the existing 
storage building. 

callen
Typewritten text
Site of proposed storage 
units. 

callen
Typewritten text
Existing Storage 
Building

callen
Typewritten text
XL-6



Page 49 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
 View shown from center portion of property facing northeast
 toward Walker Road.

callen
Typewritten text
XL-7

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road



Page 50 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Closest adjacent residence, P73-187, located on the corner of Walker/ Fox Mountain Road.

callen
Typewritten text
XL-8



Page 51 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Adjacent residence, P73-21, located across Walker Road from existing storage 
building on P73-188.

callen
Typewritten text
Walker Road

callen
Typewritten text
XL-9



Page 52 of 52

callen
Typewritten text
Natural tree line located between P73-188 and adjacent residence, P73-63. 
Photo taken from back left corner of property facing southeast.

callen
Typewritten text
 

callen
Typewritten text
XL-10


	Meeting Agenda
	February 6, 2024 Minutes
	On the Matter of Cary Littlejohn on behalf of Courtney Littlejohn for a Special Use Permit Request - Docket No. 2024-02 (SU)

